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114: William George Baird 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

William George Baird was the 5th child of plumber Eugene Macgregor Baird and 
Caroline and he was born in July/September 1887.  
 

Eugen Macgregor Baird married Caroline Vassalli (her name was also recorded as 
Vassallitt) at St Saviour’s Church, Everton, in late 1878. Caroline was a daughter of John 
and Emma Vassalli of Everton; in 1871 it was recorded that John, a fireman with the 
Dock Board, had been born in Rome and Emma originated from London. It is interesting 
to note that William’s father, Eugene, had been born in Russia. 
 

In the 1901 census it is recorded that William was born in Little Sutton - the birth was 
registered at Eastham - although in the 1911 census his birthplace is recorded as 
Liverpool. The family were living in Toxteth in 1901 having moved, sometime after the 
1881 census, from Copley Street, Everton: 
 

Basic Information [as recorded on local memorial or by CWGC] 

Name as recorded on local memorial or by CWGC:  William George Baird   

Rank: Private  

Battalion / Regiment:  12th South Wales Borderers 

Service Number:   44638  Date of Death: 28 April 1918  Age at Death: 30 

Buried / Commemorated at:  Liverpool (Toxteth Park) Cemetery 

Additional information given by CWGC: The son of Eugene Macgregor Baird and Caroline Baird of Deva 
Cottage, Ness 

1901 census (extract) – 270, Upper Parliament Street, Liverpool 
 

 Eugene McG. Baird  46   plumber              born Russia  
  (British Subject) 

 Caroline E.   40                  born Liverpool 
 Emma A.   21                  born Liverpool 
 Florence A.   19                  born Liverpool 
 Caroline E.   18                  born Liverpool 
 James John   16   plumber              born Liverpool 
 William G.   13                  born Little Sutton 
 Charles A.   10                  born Liverpool 
 Eugene       9                  born Liverpool 
 Georgina       5                  born Liverpool 
 Gladys        3                  born Liverpool 
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 In 1911 the family was still living at 270 Upper Parliament Street in Toxteth (this 
housing no longer exists): 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

As William’s Service Record has not been found it is not possible to give details of his 
life in the army or the precise circumstances of his death. However, it is known that he 
first enlisted with the Royal Engineers when his Service Number was 1332 before 
serving with the South wales Borderers. 
The 12th (Service) Battalion (3rd Gwent) was formed at Newport in March 1915 by the 
Welsh National Executive Committee as a Bantam Battalion and in March 1915 they 
came under the orders of the Welsh Bantam Brigade. In July 1915 they moved to Prees 
Heath and in September 1915 moved to Aldershot, where the formation was renamed 
as the 119th Brigade, 40th Division. The troops landed at Le Havre on 2 June 1916. The 
early history of the 12th (Service) Battalion has been summarised by the Regimental 
Museum of The Royal Welsh: 

1911 census (condensed) – 270, Upper Parliament Street, Liverpool 
 

 E.M. Baird [overwritten Edward]  57  plumber         born Russia (resident) 
 C.  [overwritten Catherine] 51            born Liverpool 
 C.  [overwritten Catherine] 28            born Liverpool 
 J.J.  [overwritten John]  26            born Liverpool 
 W.  [overwritten William]  23            born Liverpool 
 C.A.  [overwritten Charles]  21            born Liverpool 
 E.  [overwritten Edward]  19            born Liverpool 
 G.  [overwritten Gertrude]  15            born Liverpool 
 G.  [overwritten Georgina] 13            born Liverpool 
 

 Eugene and Catherine had been married for 33 years and nine of their ten children had survived. 
 

It appears that the census enumerator had not noticed that Eugene had failed to give the full name of 
each of the persons in the household and had sought later to correct this omission by contriving 
names which fitted the initials. Only William and Charles had been guessed correctly. 
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[Source: http://royalwelsh.org.uk/downloads/B07-08-SWB-WW1-12thBattalion(Bantam).pdf] 

http://royalwelsh.org.uk/downloads/B07-08-SWB-WW1-12thBattalion(Bantam).pdf
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It is known from the announcement of William’s death in the Liverpool Daily Post that 
he was injured severely on 23 November 1917; this was at the Bourlon Wood 
engagement at The Battle of Cambrai, detailed above. Clearly, William was then 
repatriated to England for treatment at the 1st London General Hospital where he died 
of wounds some five months later. The actions of the Battalion at the time that William 
was injured are detailed in the Regimental War Diary: 
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The area of Bourlon Wood, adjoining the village of Bourlon, in November 1917. 
[Source: thescribblerdotbiz.blogspot.com] 

Changes in the position of the front line during the Cambrai engagement in late 1917. 
[Source: en.wikipedia.org] 
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British troops moving into captured German trenches on 
20 November 1917    [http://www.longlongtrail.co.uk/ 

Having served on the Western Front the 12th 
(Service) Battalion was disbanded in February 
1918, some two months before the death of 
William George Baird. 

 

The 1st London General Hospital, based at St Gabriel's College, Cormont Road, 
Camberwell, was one of many Auxiliary Military Hospitals established in Britain during 
WW1. The Hospital was installed in August 1914, the College being a large modern 
building built in 1900, overlooking Myatt's Fields, a municipal park.  The College had 
emptied of young male students, many of whom had enlisted to fight in the war. By 
1917 the Hospital contained 231 beds for officers and 1,038 for enlisted men.  
 

It is known that William is buried in the family grave in Toxteth Park Cemetery, 
Liverpool, where the inscription on the (now flat) grey marble headstone reads: 

In loving memory of Arthur George, the beloved son of E. M. & C. BAIRD, who 
died 21st March 1890, aged 5 months. Also of William George, brother of the 
above, who died 28th April 1918, aged 30 years. Also of Caroline, beloved wife of 
Eugene McGregor BAIRD, who died 25th May 1925, aged 65 years. Also of the 
above Eugene MacGregor BAIRD, who died 24th March 1931, aged 76 years.  

 

When Arthur George Baird died in 1890 the family was living at Greenfield Cottage, 
Little Sutton; when William George Baird was buried in 1918 the family was living at 
122, Rosslyn Street [a terraced house in Aigburth, Liverpool]. When Caroline died in 
1925, and when Eugene MacGregor Baird died in 1931, they were living at Deva 
Cottage, Ness Holt .  [Source: www.toxtethparkcemetery.co.uk] 
 

A British tank knocked out in Bourlon Wood 
during the Battle of Cambrai. This vehicle was 
one of those assessed for salvage and repair 
by the German Army. 
[Imperial War Museum (Q 45407)] 

Liverpool Daily Post - Friday 3 May 1918 and 
Liverpool Echo - Wednesday 1 May 1918 

Liverpool Daily Post - Monday 6 May 1918 
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As William is buried in Toxteth Park he presumably died in Britain, either as a result of 
his injury or of disease associated with his wartime service. It appears, however, that 
William never lived in Neston and that his parents moved to Ness - and both died here - 
some time after his death in April 1918. The reasons for their move from Liverpool are 
unknown as there do not appear to have been any existing family connections to 
Neston. In the 1911 census only one family with this surname lived in Neston [Carl 
Albert Baird, 27, coal merchant, born Chester and Jane, 30, born Liverpool] and no 
connection to William’s family can be found. 
 

Interestingly, the 1919 Absent Voters’ List for Parkgate records a ‘Baird, Thomas 
Herbert, Lieut., Prisoners of War Staff’, although nothing is known of this individual. 

 

Although, as noted previously, William and his 
parents are buried at Toxteth Park Cemetery, 
Liverpool, William’s younger brother, Charles 
Alexander Baird, is buried with his wife Elizabeth 
in Neston Cemetery. The following is a brief 
account of Charles. 
 

Charles Alexander Baird was born in the Toxteth 
Park district of Liverpool in early 1891 
although his gravestone gives the date 
as 1892. On 16 March 1938 Charles 
married Elizabeth (Lizzie) Scott of Neston, the only daughter of Ruth and Richard Scott. 
Ruth Scott was the second daughter of James Platt who had been the colliery manager 
at the Wirral Colliery Company in Neston until his retirement in 1910 (he died the 
following year). Ruth Platt married Richard Scott at Neston on 9 January 1891; Richard 

British Army WWI Medal Rolls Index Cards, 1914-1920 

Army Registers of Soldiers' Effects, 1901-1929 
 

In Summer 1919 the army paid outstanding credits – mainly remaining wages – to soldiers or, in the case of 
those who had died, their family or nominated representatives. At the same time a War Gratuity was often 
paid. In July 1919 William’s father Eugen, as sole legatee, received a payment of outstanding wages of £19 17s 
6d from the army and, in January 1920, a War Gratuity of £9 10s. This, a total value of £29 7s 6d, is equivalent 
to a labour value (wages) of around £4550 in 2016. 
 

The War Gratuity was introduced in December 1918 as a payment to be made to those men who had served 
in WW1 for a period of 6 months or more home service or for any length of service if a man had served 
overseas. The rules governing the gratuity were implemented under Army Order 17 of 1919 but the amount 
paid was related to the length of war service. 
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The Scott / Baird grave, Neston 
Cemetery 
 

In Loving Memory of our Dear Mother 
RUTH SCOTT 

Who Died 27th June 1929 
CHARLES ALEXANDER BAIRD 

Beloved Husband of Elizabeth Baird 
1892 – 1964 

Also ELIZABETH 
Wife of the above Charles 

And Daughter of Ruth Scott 
Who Died 25th April 1977 

Aged 85 Years 
 

Charles Baird, aged 69, in 
West Kirby in May 1961. 

was the brother of Janet Scott who married 
John Platt, the eldest son of James Platt. The Platt family, after 
their move to Neston from Lancashire in about 1885, lived on 
Colliery Lane (now Marshlands Road) but after her marriage to 
Richard Scott Ruth moved to Colliery Farm where Richard had 
become the manager. Richard and Ruth had two children, 
Elizabeth (born 19 May 1891) and Andrew (born 16 July 1893) 
but Richard, unable to cope with managing the farm, hanged 
himself on 24 June 1895 when he was just 27. Ruth Scott, with 

her two small children, had to leave the farm and initially lived with her parents on 
Colliery Lane before buying and running a tobacconist / stationers shop on Neston 
Cross where she lived above the premises. After the death of her father, James Platt, in 
June 1911, Ruth immediately bought a house named Ivydene in School Lane, Ness, for 
her widowed mother and an unmarried sister. This house, built in 1903, was renamed 
Bickerstaffe after the mining town in Lancashire from which the family originated. 
Although Ruth and her two children are not known to have lived at Bickerstaffe until 
early 1929 (after her mother’s death in April 1919 Ruth ran the shop on Neston Cross) 
the house was next-door to Deva Cottage, the home of Eugene Macgregor Baird and 
his family until Eugene died in 1931. Charles Alexander Baird and Elizabeth Scott would, 
therefore have known each other because of the proximity of the two houses although 
they did not marry until 1938 when Elizabeth was nearly 47 and Charles was the same 
age. Charles Baird was a master-builder and, having built many of the houses on 
Beacon Drive in West Kirby, the couple moved there after their marriage. Charles died 
in early 1964, aged 72 and was cremated at Landican Cemetery.  Elizabeth died on 25 
April 1977 aged 85. They had no children.     

 

In the 1939 Register Eugene Baird (born 19 December 1892, 
incapacitated), a brother of William George, was still living in 
the same house on School Lane although it was now called 
‘Deva’. Eugene married Eva M Bushell (born 29 April 1904) 
at St Matthew with St. James Church, Mossley Hill, Liverpool   

          in late 1931; no record of 
children has been found. 
Also in the household 
was Dora F Bushell  
(born 15 June 1915); a 
Reginald J Bushell 
(possibly Eva’s brother) 
married Dora F March 
(or Murch) in Wallasey in 
early 1939. No details of 
the deaths of Eugene or 
Eva Baird are known. 


